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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF 
 

2. As part of the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (“86 Act”),2 Congress 

gave manufacturers immunity from liability for injuries caused by vaccines. (42 U.S.C. § 300aa-

11.) Concurrently, Congress required the HHS Secretary to be directly responsible for taking 

prescribed steps to ensure vaccine safety as part of the 86 Act; to wit: Mandate for safer 

childhood vaccines. (42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27.) 

3. Since the 86 Act is a no-fault system designed to compensate individuals injured by 

vaccines, the HHS Secretary has an ongoing, non-discretionary mandate to establish an agency 

task force comprised of the heads of the NIH, FDA, and the CDC (“Task Force”) to ameliorate 

the risk of deadly and debilitating vaccine side effects. The Secretary shall then provide biennial 

reports of these improvements to Congress. 

4. However, HHS Secretary Robert F. Kennedy, Jr., and all ten of his predecessors never 

explained to Congress how they promoted the refinement and assured improvements in the 

“development of childhood vaccines to result in fewer and less serious adverse reactions than 

those vaccines on the market on December 22, 1987.”  

5. While the successive string of HHS Secretaries violated this non-discretionary duty under 

the 86 Act, the number of licensed and often mandatory childhood vaccines has increased in 

quantity from four different vaccines on the CDC's Childhood Immunization Schedule in 1983,3 

(Exh. 1) to over 75 doses contained in 19 different vaccines on the schedule in 2025. (Exh. 2).4 

                                                                                                                                                                                                
 
2 42 U.S.C. §§ 300aa-1 through 300aa-34 
3 https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/images/schedule1983s.jpg 
4 https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/imz-schedules/downloads/child/0-18yrs-child-combined-
schedule.pdf#:~:text=*%20COVID%2D19%20(1vCOV%2DmRNA%2C%201vCOV%2DaPS)
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The Secretary’s failure to perform this critical duty in light of this jump in the number of CDC-

recommended childhood vaccines is nothing less than irresponsible and dangerous.   

6. There is a strong correlation between the increase in vaccine dosages routinely given to 

children and the sharp increase in the prevalence of autism. According to the HHS, autism is now 

an epidemic that runs rampant.5 According to the White House, “in 2022, an estimated 30 

million children (40.7 percent) had at least one health condition, such as allergies, asthma, or an 

autoimmune disease.”6 The failure of the successive HHS Secretaries to develop safer vaccines 

and then report safety improvements as required under the 86 Act cannot be ruled out as being 

the primary culprit of this avoidable catastrophe. Children’s vaccines remain as (and are arguably 

even more) deadly and dangerous than they were in 1987, particularly since vaccine 

manufacturers have no financial incentive since they bear no liability under the 86 Act. 

7. In over 35 years, all ten of Secretary Kennedy’s predecessors failed to report to Congress 

the steps taken towards making safety improvements in childhood vaccines as required by the 86 

Act. Over 100 days have passed since President Trump formed the Make America Healthy 

Again Commission chaired by Secretary Kennedy,7 and no statutorily required Task Force on 

                                                                                                                                                                                                

%201%20or%20more,*%20Measles%2C%20mumps%2C%20rubella%20(MMR)%20See%20N
otes. 
5 https://www.hhs.gov/press-room/autism-epidemic-runs-rampant-new-data-shows-grants.html       
Released April 15, 2025 
6 https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/02/establishing-the-presidents-make-
america-healthy-again-
commission/#:~:text=%C2%A0In%202022%2C%20an%20estimated%2030%20million%20chil
dren%20(40.7%20percent)%20had%20at%20least%20one%20health%20condition%2C%20suc
h%20as%20allergies%2C%20asthma%2C%20or%20an%20autoimmune%20disease. Feb. 13, 
2025 
7 https://www.whitehouse.gov/fact-sheets/2025/02/fact-sheet-president-donald-j-trump-
establishes-the-make-america-healthy-again-
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childhood vaccine safety has been established. Therefore, any grace period for Mr. Kennedy to 

rectify the failure of his predecessors has ended.  

8. Congress included a broad citizen’s action provision (42 U.S.C. §300aa-31) to bring suit, 

“where there is alleged a failure of the Secretary to perform any act or duty under this part.” The 

safety of childhood vaccines must be Secretary Kennedy’s very top priority. Since 

accomplishing this goal includes the performance of certain lawful duties that have not been 

performed, this citizen’s action is hereby brought before this Court. 

9. Plaintiff has been harmed by the failure of the HHS Secretary to perform his duties for 

nearly 40 years. On March 15, 2025, Plaintiff sent Secretary Kennedy a 60-day notice (Exh. 3) as 

required by 42 U.S.C. §300aa-31(b) to advise him of his failure to perform and the threat of this 

suit. As of the date of filing, he hasn’t performed, and he has not responded.8 

PARTIES  

10. Robert F. Kennedy, Jr., is, and at all relevant times has been, the current Secretary of the 

United States Department of Health & Human Services and is sued in his official capacity. 

11. Ray L. Flores II is a resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

                                                                                                                                                                                                

commission/#:~:text=Chaired%20by%20U.S.%20Health%20and,the%20health%20of%20Ameri
ca's%20children. 
8 USPS tracking shows that the letter sent on March 15, 2025 (Exh. 4, p. 1) was received by HHS 
on March 17, 2025. (Exh. 4, p. 2) 
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12. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §300aa-31(a); 28 

U.S.C. §1331 and §2201, and the following sections having been met; 28 U.S.C. §1331 (federal 

question); and 28 U.S.C. §1361 (mandamus).  

13.  Venue lies in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. §1391(e) since Mr. Flores is a resident 

of Clark County, Nevada. Further, 42 U.S.C. §300aa-31(a), provides that after a 60-day demand 

for rectification has been received; “Any person may commence in a district court of the United 

States a civil action on such person’s own behalf against the Secretary where there is alleged a 

failure of the Secretary to perform any act or duty under this part.” (emphasis added). Venue in 

this Court is proper.  

14. The HHS Secretary’s failure to establish the Task Force and submit reports provides this 

Court with jurisdiction to consider this case and then order the HHS Secretary to fulfill his 

obligations. 

FACTS 

15. In 2018, prior to assuming his role as the HHS Secretary, Mr. Kennedy was an attorney 

in private practice. He filed suit (along with co-counsel) against the HHS in S.D.N.Y. District 

Court (Case 1:18-CV-03215-JMF) seeking copies of biennial reports from 1989 to the ‘present.’ 

During the pendency of litigation, he personally became aware that the biennial reports required 

by the 86 Act were never submitted. His FOIA Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief 

sought a Court Order for the HHS to: “(1) disclose the reports transmitted to Congress under 42 

U.S.C. § 300aa27(c), (2) assert an exemption for such reports, or (3) state that no such reports 

exist.” (Exh. 5, p. 9) The HHS admitted that it could not locate copies of biennial reports that the 
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Secretaries submitted to Congress. (Exh. 6, p. 2). Plaintiff dismissed the case with prejudice via 

stipulation bearing Mr. Kennedy’s signature. (Exh. 6, p. 3). Less than one month prior to 

dismissing that case, Mr. Kennedy’s co-counsel received an HHS letter informing him that the 

86 Act’s required Task Force was established in 1990, and that it “was disbanded in 1998.”      

(Exh. 7 p.  1.) 

16. After former HHS Secretary, Xavier Becerra, conceded that neither he nor his 

predecessors ever provided safety improvement reports to Congress as required by law, 

Secretary Kennedy can draw a reasonable conclusion that many ‘unavoidable’ side effects 

(including death) could have been avoided.  

17. The MAHA Report Making Our Children Healthy Again (Assessment)9 was released on 

May 22, 2025, by the MAHA Commission, Secretary Kennedy, Chair. It concedes: “In fact, 

HHS has faced lawsuits for failing to fulfill basic duties under the Mandate for Safer Childhood 

Vaccines such as its requirement to submit biannual reports to Congress on how it has made 

vaccines safer.” However, Secretary Kennedy has still not performed his ‘basic’ duty to establish 

the Task Force and provide (the never-before-submitted) biennial reports to Congress as required 

by the 86 Act.  

18. According to HRSA ‘successful’ claimants in suits against the HHS filed in the U.S. 

Court of Federal Claims have thus far received awards totaling over $5.2B (including attorney 

fees and costs) as compensation for those “unavoidable” side effects through fiscal year 2024.10 

                                                            
9 https://s3.documentcloud.org/documents/25951543/maha-master-doc.pdf (p. 61) 
10 https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/vicp/vicp-stats-07-01-24.pdf 
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Vaccine manufacturers never have to defend these cases in an Article III Court. If that were the 

case, awards would be stratospherically higher.  

19. Secretary Kennedy is the first in his position to admit a lack of scientific-method 

testing. Secretary Kennedy is acutely aware of the empty assurances of adequate safety as well 

as the risks accompanying unsafe, untested and unimproved injections. Recently, as widely 

reported, Mr. Kennedy admitted that “except for the COVID vaccine, none of the vaccines on 

the CDC’s childhood recommended schedule were tested against an inert placebo, meaning 

we know very little about the actual risk profiles of these products.”11  

20. Under the 86 Act’s required safety improvements, Plaintiff should have confidence in 

CDC-recommended vaccines.  But the Secretary and his predecessors have not followed the law 

and have not taken steps to improve vaccines, which Congress declared to have “unavoidable” 

side effects.  

21. By not following the law for nearly four decades, the HHS Secretary has led an 

increasing number of Americans (including Plaintiff and his family) to distrust vaccines due 

to the inaction of the leaders of the very agency that is charged with the duty to protect 

children’s safety. Without adequate assurances and efforts of safety measures to make side 

effects more avoidable, Mr. Flores and his family can’t make informed decisions in light of 

                                                                                                                                                                                                
 
11 https://www.npr.org/sections/shots-health-news/2025/05/01/nx-s1-5383172/rfk-jr-placebo-
vaccine-testing-
studies#:~:text=except%20for%20the%20COVID%20vaccine%2C%20none%20of%20the%20v
accines%20on%20the%20CDC%27s%20childhood%20recommended%20schedule%20was%20
tested%20against%20an%20inert%20placebo%2C%20meaning%20we%20know%20very%20lit
tle%20about%20the%20actual%20risk%20profiles%20of%20these%20products. 
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the onslaught of current and seemingly never-ending outbreaks. All the new and widely-

publicized MAHA programs do not relieve the Secretary of his already existing duty under 

the 86 Act. The failure of the former Secretaries to take steps to perform the very task that 

led Mr. Kennedy to file suit in 2018 still persists. Plaintiff asks that this Court order him to 

perform his non-discretionary obligations and obey the 86 Act’s Mandate for Safer 

Childhood Vaccines.  

22. Plaintiff is the parent of a Clark County high school student. He had to leave his lifelong 

state of California due to a requirement that a minimum of 37 vaccine doses were needed to 

attend and graduate from any California high school. Personal choice and religious exemptions 

are not allowed under SB 277,12 and Plaintiff’s child’s medical exemption was rendered void 

under SB 276.13 

23. Due to the Secretary’s failure to take the required steps towards improving childhood 

vaccines for nearly four decades, Plaintiff’s decision to leave the California to protect his child 

from multiple injections of unsafe, untested and unimproved vaccines required in order for his 

child to receive a proper education was necessary and reasonable since California schools 

mandate dozens of doses of these vaccines (in effect without exception). Plaintiff’s lack of 

confidence in HHS’s unsubstantiated assurances of safety forced Plaintiff to homeschool, send 

his child out of the country, and eventually move to Nevada for his child to receive an in-person 

high school education within the United States.  

                                                            
12 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB277 
13 https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200SB276 



9 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF 
 

24. Although California is one of a handful of states with draconian school vaccine mandates, 

Nevada is one of the states that still allows for medical and religious exemptions to school 

vaccinations. On June 24, 2024, Plaintiff moved his family to Nevada for his child to be able to 

attend high school in person rather than take the unnecessary and unknown risks of multiple 

vaccinations.  

25. The 86 Act’s citizen’s action provision (U.S.C. § 300aa-31) provides a clear right to 

relief. Mr. Kennedy has been repeatedly made aware of his duties that he continues to violate. 

No other adequate remedy either in law or equity exists.  

COUNT I                                                                                              
VIOLATION OF THE NATIONAL CHILDHOOD VACCINE                                                

INJURY ACT OF 1986 (42 U.S.C. §300aa-1, et. seq.) 

26. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing as though fully set forth herein.  

27. The 86 Act permits Citizen’s Actions:  

[A]ny person may commence in a district court of the United States a civil action on such 
person’s own behalf against the Secretary where there is alleged a failure of the Secretary 
to perform any act or duty under this part. (42 U.S.C. § 300aa-31(a).) 

28. Defendant in his official capacity and his predecessors were required to take steps to 

improve the safety of childhood vaccines by establishing a Task Force.  

Under the 86 Act’s Mandate for safer childhood vaccines (42 U.S. Code § 300aa-27): 

(a)(1) [The Secretary shall] promote the development of childhood vaccines that result in 
fewer and less serious adverse reactions than those vaccines on the market on December 
22, 1987, and promote the refinement of such vaccines, and 

 (a)(2) [The Secretary shall] make or assure improvements in, and otherwise use the 
authorities of the Secretary with respect to, the licensing, manufacturing, processing, 
testing, labeling, warning, use instructions, distribution, storage, administration, field 
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surveillance, adverse reaction reporting, and recall of reactogenic lots or batches, of 
vaccines, and research on vaccines, in order to reduce the risks of adverse reactions to 
vaccines. 

(b)(1) The Secretary shall establish a task force on safer childhood vaccines which shall 
consist of the Director of the National Institutes of Health, the Commissioner of the Food 
and Drug Administration, and the Director of the Centers for Disease Control. 

 

Along with Secretary Kennedy’s predecessors over the past 25 years, he has also failed to 

establish this Task Force to make or assure improvements as required by law.  

29. The Secretary and all ten of his predecessors failed in their duty to: 

42 U.S. Code § 300aa-27(c) Report 

Within 2 years after December 22, 1987, and periodically thereafter, the Secretary shall 
prepare and transmit to the Committee on Energy and Commerce of the House of 
Representatives and the Committee on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate a 
report describing the actions taken pursuant to subsection (a) during the preceding 2-year 
period.  

Despite this clear statutory requirement, no HHS Secretary has ever provided any such report to 

Congress.  

30. Even though Plaintiff put Secretary Kennedy on written notice of these violations     

(Exh. 3) over 60 days ago, he continues to fail to perform the 86 Act’s non-discretionary duties.  

COUNT II                                                                                             
MANDAMUS                                                                                          

28 U.S.C. §1361 

31. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing as though fully set forth herein.  
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32. To show entitlement to mandamus, “plaintiffs must demonstrate (1) a clear and 

indisputable right to relief, (2) that the government agency or official is violating a clear duty to 

act, and (3) that no adequate alternative remedy exists.” Am. Hosp. Ass'n v. Burwell, 812 F.3d 

183, 189 (D.C. Cir. 2016).  

33. Since 60 days have passed since Secretary received a demand letter as required by 42 

U.S.C. §300aa-31, Plaintiff is entitled by statute to “commence in a district court of the United 

States a civil action on such person’s own behalf against the Secretary where there is alleged a 

failure of the Secretary to perform any act or duty under [the 86 Act].”  

34. The Secretary’s failure to abide by his Mandate for Safer Childhood Vaccines, establish 

the required Task Force and submit the required reports to Congress describing the actions taken 

by HHS to improve vaccine safety to the United States Congress as required violates the 86 Act.  

35. Plaintiff has no other remedy to begin to trust the safety of CDC recommended vaccines 

other than to file the instant suit for declaratory relief. The statute requires that only Secretary 

Kennedy himself shall establish the Task Force and submit biennial reports to Congress. Plaintiff 

provided 60-day notice that the Secretary has ignored. Secretary Kennedy continues to violate 

his clear, nondiscretionary duties under the 86 Act. 

36. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1361 federal district courts have “original jurisdiction of any 

action in the nature of mandamus to compel an officer or employee of the United States or any 

agency thereof to perform a duty owed to the plaintiff.” 28 U.S.C. §1361 provides the Court with 

jurisdiction to order the Secretary to fulfill his obligations. (See also 42 U.S.C. §300aa-31(a).) 
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EXHIBIT 2   

UNITED STATES 2025                                                              
Recommended Child and Adolescent Immunization Schedule for ages 18
years or younger 
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EXHIBIT 5    

Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief                                         

(Case 1:18-CV-03215-JMF) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

INFORMED CONSENT ACTION NETWORK, 

 

 Plaintiff, 

 -against- 

 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND 

HUMAN SERVICES 

 

 Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR 

DECLARATORY AND 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

 

 

 

 

Plaintiff as for its Complaint against the above-captioned Defendant alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986, codified at 42 U.S.C. §§ 

300aa-1 through 300aa-34, granted economic immunity to pharmaceutical companies for the 

injuries caused by their vaccines.  The responsibility for vaccine safety was therefore placed in the 

hands of the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 300aa-27(a) which provided, inter alia, that the Secretary of HHS “shall … make or 

assure improvements in … the licensing, manufacturing, … adverse reaction reporting, … and 

research on vaccines, in order to reduce the risks of adverse reactions to vaccines.”   

2. To track HHS’s fulfillment of these vaccine safety obligations, 42 U.S.C. Section 

300aa-27(c) provided that, “Within 2 years after December 22, 1987, and periodically thereafter, 

the Secretary [of HHS] shall prepare and transmit to the Committee on Energy and Commerce of 

the House of Representatives and the Committee on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate a 

report describing the actions taken pursuant to subsection (a) of this section during the preceding 

2-year period.” 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 1 of 10
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3. On May 31, 2017, Robert F. Kennedy, Jr. and Plaintiff’s founder, Del Bigtree,  

along with a handful of other individuals, had a two-hour meeting regarding vaccine safety with 

the Counselor to the Secretary of HHS, the Director of the National Institutes of Health (“NIH”), 

Principal Deputy Director of the NIH, and the Directors from various institutes at the NIH.  During 

that meeting, Plaintiff and Robert F. Kennedy, Jr. became concerned that HHS was not faithfully 

fulfilling its obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(a).  Plaintiff therefore decided to submit a 

request, pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. § 552) (“FOIA”), to obtain copies 

of the reports the Secretary of HHS submitted to Congress pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(c) 

which should detail the actions taken by HHS pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(a) to improve 

vaccine safety.   

4. On August 25, 2017, Plaintiff submitted a FOIA request to the HHS for: “Any and 

all reports transmitted to the Committee on Energy and Commerce of the House of Representatives 

and the Committee on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate by the Secretary of HHS pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. §300aa-27(c).”  (the “FOIA Request”).  HHS failed to timely respond to the FOIA 

Request.  Plaintiff brings this action to challenge HHS’s failure to respond and provide copies of 

its reports to Congress pursuant to this section, copies of which HHS should have readily 

accessible.   

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 2 of 10
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PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Informed Consent Action Network (“Plaintiff” or “ICAN”) is a not-for-

profit organization with an office located at 140 Broadway, 46th Floor, New York, New York 

10005. 

6. Defendant the United States Department of Health and Human Services 

(“Defendant” or “HHS”) is a department within the Executive Branch of the United States 

Government and is an agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. §552(f). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 

28 U.S.C. § 1331.   Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(a). 

FACTS 

I. Background 

8. By 1986, the “litigation costs associated with claims of damage from vaccines had 

forced several companies to end their vaccine research and development programs as well as to 

stop producing already licensed vaccines.”  (Institute of Medicine, Adverse Events Associated with 

Childhood Vaccines: Evidence Bearing on Causality, at 2 (1994).)  The remaining pharmaceutical 

companies producing vaccines threatened to withdraw from the vaccine market.   

9. In response, Congress passed the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, in 1986, 

codified at 42 U.S.C. §§ 300aa-1 through 300aa-34 (the “1986 Act”), which virtually eliminated 

economic liability for pharmaceutical companies for injuries caused by their vaccines.  42 U.S.C. 

§ 300aa-11 (“No person may bring a civil action for damages in the amount greater than $1,000 

or in an unspecified amount against a vaccine administrator or manufacturer in a State or Federal 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 3 of 10
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court for damages arising from a vaccine-related injury or death.”); Bruesewitz v. Wyeth LLC, 562 

U.S. 223, 243 (2011) (“we hold that the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act pre-empts all 

design-defect claims against vaccine manufacturers brought by plaintiffs who seek compensation 

for injury or death caused by vaccine side effects”). 

10. By granting immunity from actual or potential liability from injuries caused by 

vaccines, Congress eliminated the market forces that are generally relied upon to assure the safety 

of all other products.  Recognizing that the 1986 Act eliminated the incentive for vaccine makers 

to assure the safety of their vaccine products, the 1986 Act explicitly places the responsibility for 

vaccine safety in the hands of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 

(“HHS”).  42 U.S.C. §§ 300aa-1 through 300aa-34. 

11. To that end, Section 300aa-1, entitled “Establishment,” provides that “The 

Secretary shall establish in the Department of Health and Human Services a National Vaccine 

Program to achieve optimal prevention of human infectious diseases through immunization and to 

achieve optimal prevention against adverse reactions to vaccines.” 

12. Section 300aa-2, entitled “Program responsibilities,” provides that the National 

Vaccine Program’s responsibilities shall include, inter alia: 

(1) Vaccine research.  The Director of the Program shall … 

coordinate and provide direction for research carried out in or 

through the National Institutes of Health, the Centers for 

Disease Control and Prevention, the Office of Biologics 

Research and Review of the Food and Drug Administration, the 

Department of Defense, and the Agency for International 

Development on means to … prevent adverse reactions to 

vaccines. 

(2) Vaccine development.  The Director of the Program shall … 

coordinate and provide direction for activities carried out in or 

through the National Institutes of Health, the Office of 

Biologics Research and Review of the Food and Drug 

Administration, the Department of Defense, and the Agency for 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 4 of 10
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International Development to develop the techniques needed to 

produce safe and effective vaccines. 

(3) Safety and efficacy testing of vaccines.  The Director of the 

Program shall … coordinate and provide direction for safety 

and efficacy testing of vaccines carried out in or through the 

National Institutes of Health, the Centers for Disease Control 

and Prevention, the Office of Biologics Research and Review 

of the Food and Drug Administration, the Department of 

Defense, and the Agency for International Development.  

* * * 

(7) Evaluating the … adverse effects of vaccines and immunization 

activities.  The Director of the Program shall … coordinate and 

provide direction to the National Institutes of Health, the 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the Office of 

Biologics Research and Review of the Food and Drug 

Administration, the National Center for Health Statistics, the 

National Center for Health Services Research and Health Care 

Technology Assessment, and the Centers for Medicare & 

Medicaid Services in monitoring … adverse effects of vaccines 

and immunization activities. 

13. Reflecting the importance of HHS’s responsibility to assure vaccine safety, Section 

300aa-27(a), entitled “Mandate for safer childhood vaccines,” puts the following responsibility 

directly in the hands of the Secretary of HHS:  

(a) In the administration of this part and other pertinent laws under 

the jurisdiction of the Secretary, the Secretary shall—  

(1) promote the development of childhood vaccines that result 

in fewer and less serious adverse reactions than those 

vaccines on the market on December 22, 1987, and promote 

the refinement of such vaccines, and  

(2) make or assure improvements in, and otherwise use the 

authorities of the Secretary with respect to, the licensing, 

manufacturing, processing, testing, labeling, warning, use 

instructions, distribution, storage, administration, field 

surveillance, adverse reaction reporting, and recall of 

reactogenic lots or batches, of vaccines, and research on 

vaccines, in order to reduce the risks of adverse reactions to 

vaccines. 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 5 of 10
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14. To assist the Secretary of HHS in performing these duties, Section 300aa-27(b) 

directs the Secretary to establish a task force responsible for making recommendations to the 

Secretary concerning implementation of the requirements of Section 300aa-27(a).  This task force 

is entitled the “task force on safer childhood vaccines.” (the “Task Force” or “Task Force on 

Safer Childhood Vaccines”).  42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(b).  The Director of the NIH is the chair of 

the Task Force, which by statute also includes the Commissioner of the FDA and the Director of 

the CDC.  Id.   

15. As provided in Section 300aa-27(b)(3): 

In consultation with the Advisory Commission on Childhood 

Vaccines, the task force shall prepare recommendations to the 

Secretary concerning implementation of the requirements of 

subsection (a). 

 

16. The Task Force, chaired by the Director of NIH, is therefore statutorily responsible, 

pursuant to Section 300aa-27(b), to provide the Secretary of HHS with recommendations 

concerning implementation of the requirements of Section 300aa-27(a).     

17. To assure the Secretary of HHS takes action based on the recommendations made 

by the Task Force and is otherwise fulfilling its important obligations pursuant to Section 300aa-

27(a) to assure the safety of the vaccines administered to children in the United States, Section 

300aa-27(c) provides that: 

Within 2 years after December 22, 1987, and periodically thereafter, 

the Secretary shall prepare and transmit to the Committee on Energy 

and Commerce of the House of Representatives and the Committee 

on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate a report describing 

the actions taken pursuant to subsection (a) of this section during the 

preceding 2-year period. 

 

18. The rapid growth in the number of pediatric vaccines since passage of the 1986 Act 

has only increased the need for HHS to faithfully fulfill its obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-1 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 6 of 10



7 
 

et seq. to assure the safety of vaccines used in this country.  In 1983, the CDC’s childhood vaccine 

schedule included 11 injections of 4 vaccines. (CDC, 1983 Childhood Immunization Schedule 

available at https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/images/schedule1983s.jpg.)  As of 2018, the 

CDC’s childhood vaccine schedule had grown to include 56 injections of 30 different vaccines.  

(CDC, 2018 Childhood Immunization Schedule available at https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/

schedules/downloads/child/0-18yrs-child-combined-schedule.pdf)  

19. Robert F. Kennedy, Jr. and Plaintiff’s founder, Del Bigtree, along with a few other 

individuals concerned about vaccine safety, had a two-hour meeting at the NIH in Bethesda, 

Maryland on May 31, 2017 with the Counselor to the Secretary of HHS, Director of the NIH, the 

Principal Deputy Director of the NIH, and the Directors from various institutes at the NIH.  During 

that meeting regarding vaccine safety, Plaintiff and Robert F. Kennedy, Jr., became concerned that 

HHS was not fulfilling its obligations under 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(a).  Plaintiff therefore decided 

to submit a FOIA request to obtain copies of the reports the Secretary of HHS was required to 

submit to Congress pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-27(c), copies of which HHS should have readily 

available.     

II.  The FOIA Request 

20. On August 25, 2017, Plaintiff sent the FOIA Request via email and FedEx to HHS. 

21. On November 8, 2017, HHS finally provided an acknowledgement letter for the 

FOIA Request, which stated in relevant part: 

 

This acknowledges receipt of your August 25, 2017, Freedom of 

Information Act (FOIA) request, submitted to the Department of 

Health and Human Services (HHS), FOI/Privacy Acts Division 

concerning: “Any and all reports transmitted to the Committee 

on Energy and Commerce of the House of Representatives and 

the Committee on Labor and Human Resources of the Senate 

Case 1:18-cv-03215-JMF   Document 1   Filed 04/12/18   Page 7 of 10



8 
 

by the Secretary of HHS pursuant to 42 U.S.C. $300aa-27(c) 

[sic].”. 

 

We received your request on August 28, 2017. 

 

We have initiated a search to locate records falling within the scope 

of your request. If our searching units advise us that you have 

requested a voluminous amount of records that require extensive 

search and examination, my staff will contact you shortly to discuss 

your willingness to modify your request.  

 

The FOIA requires that we respond to your request within 20 

working days of its receipt in this office. Please note the following 

unusual and exceptional circumstances that will impact our response 

time: (1) we will need to search for and collect records from 

components and/or field offices external to this office; and (2) 

because we receive a very heavy volume of FOIA requests, we will 

process your request in line with our established policy of “first in, 

first out” case processing. If either of these circumstances prevents 

our office from responding within the 20 working day timeframe, 

we will utilize a 10 working day extension to process your request, 

as permitted pursuant to the FOIA. 

 

(Emphasis in original.) 

22. HHS never requested that Plaintiff modify the FOIA Request.  HHS also failed to 

respond within 20 days nor did it seek a 10 day extension thereafter for responding to the FOIA 

Request.  HHS also did not respond to the numerous follow-up inquiries for a status update 

regarding the FOIA Request, including inquiries sent on January 23, 2018, January 30, 2018, and 

February 6, 2018.    

23. On March 13, 2018, Plaintiff appealed the FOIA Request to Deputy Agency Chief 

FOIA Officer at HHS and received an acknowledgment of this appeal from HHS which provided, 

in relevant part: “This is in response to your Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) appeal, dated: 

March 13, 2018, concerning the constructive denial of your initial request, which is assigned case 

number 2017-01119-FOIA-OS. We received your appeal on March 13, 2018.”  (emphasis in 
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original).  HHS, however, failed to respond within 20 days nor did it seek an extension of the 

statutory processing time for this administrative appeal.   

Requested Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court: 

a. Provide for expeditious proceedings in this action; 

b. Enter an Order declaring that it was unlawful for the Defendants’ to fail to timely 

either (1) disclose the reports transmitted by HHS to Congress pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300aa-

27(c), (2) assert an exemption for such reports, or (3) state that no such reports exist; 

c. Enter an Order directing HHS to, within 20 days of issuance of the order, either (1) 

make available to Plaintiff any and all reports responsive to the FOIA Request; (2) assert a valid 

exemption listed in 45 CFR §§ 5.31, 5.32 for withholding any such reports; or (3) state that no 

such reports exist; 

d. Award Plaintiff its costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in this action as 

provided by 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E); and 

e. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  
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Dated:  April 12, 2018 

 

 

SIRI & GLIMSTAD LLP 

   

   

 

______________________________ 

Aaron Siri 

200 Park Avenue, 17th Floor 

New York, New York 10166 

Tel: (212) 532-1091 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 

KENNEDY & MODONNA LLP 

   

   

 

______________________________ 

Robert F. Kennedy, Jr. 

48 Dewitt Mills Road 

Hurley, NY 12443 

Tel: (845) 481-2622 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiff  
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Letter from HHS dated June 22, 2018 Task Force Disbanded in 1998
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